When telephoning, please ask for: Democratic Services

Direct dial 0115 914 8511
Email democraticservices@rushcliffe.gov.uk .
Rushcliffe
Our reference: Borough Council
Your reference:
Date: Wednesday, 4 February 2026
Email:
customerservices

. . @rushcliffe.gov.uk
To all Members of the Planning Committee

Telephone:
0115981 9911

Dear Councillor
www.rushcliffe.gov.uk
A Meeting of the Planning Committee will be held on Thursday, 12 February
2026 at 6.00 pm in the Council Chamber, Rushcliffe Arena, Rugby Road, West
Bridgford to consider the following items of business.

This meeting will be accessible and open to the public via the live stream on
YouTube and viewed via the link: https://www.youtube.com/user/RushcliffeBC
Please be aware that until the meeting starts the live stream video will not be
showing on the home page. For this reason, please keep refreshing the home
page until you see the video appear.

Yours sincerely

Shegn

Sara Pregon
Monitoring Officer

AGENDA

1. Apologies for Absence and Substitute Members
2. Declarations of Interest

Link to further information in the Council’s Constitution

3. Minutes of the Meeting held on 8 January 2026 (Pages 1 - 2)

4, Planning Applications (Pages 3 - 26)
Postal address

The report of the Director — Development and Economic Growth gushcl_ilffe Borough
ounci
Rushcliffe Arena

5. Planning Appeals (Pages 27 - 28) Rugby Road
West Bridgford

The report of the Director — Development and Economic Growth Egg“%'jgm

(2 disability
B confident

'—— EMPLOYER ——

RUSHCLIFFE - GREAT PLACE » GREAT LIFESTYLE = GREAT SPORT



https://www.youtube.com/user/RushcliffeBC
https://www.rushcliffe.gov.uk/about-us/about-the-council/policies-strategies-and-other-documents/accessible-documents/council-constitution/#Councillor%20Code%20of%20Conduct

Membership

Chair: Councillor R Walker

Vice-Chair: Councillor A Brown

Councillors: T Birch, S Calvert, J Chaplain, S Ellis, S Mallender, D Mason,
C Thomas, T Wells and Vacant

Meeting Room Guidance

Fire Alarm Evacuation: in the event of an alarm sounding please evacuate the
building using the nearest fire exit, normally through the Council Chamber. You
should assemble at the far side of the plaza outside the main entrance to the
building.

Toilets: are located to the rear of the building near the lift and stairs to the first
floor.

Mobile Phones: For the benefit of others please ensure that your mobile phone is
switched off whilst you are in the meeting.

Microphones: When you are invited to speak please press the button on your
microphone, a red light will appear on the stem. Please ensure that you switch
this off after you have spoken.

Recording at Meetings

National legislation permits filming and recording by anyone attending a meeting.
This is not within the Council’s control.

Rushcliffe Borough Council is committed to being open and transparent in its
decision making. As such, the Council will undertake audio recording of meetings
which are open to the public, except where it is resolved that the public be
excluded, as the information being discussed is confidential or otherwise exempt



25

26

27

28

Agenda Iltem 3

Rushcliffe MINUTES
Borough Council OF THE MEET'NG OF THE
PLANNING COMMITTEE
THURSDAY, 8 JANUARY 2026

Held at 6.00 pm in the Council Chamber, Rushcliffe Arena, Rugby Road, West

Bridgford
and live streamed on Rushcliffe Borough Council’s YouTube channel

PRESENT:
Councillors R Walker (Chair), A Brown (Vice-Chair), T Birch, S Calvert,
J Chaplain, S Ellis, S Mallender and D Mason and Clir R Butler (as substitute)
and L Way (as substitute)

OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE:

S Brannon Assistant Director of Planning

A Cullen Planning Manager - Development
M Hilton Senior Planning Officer

E Richardson Democratic Services Officer
APOLOGIES:

Councillors C Thomas and T Wells

Declarations of Interest
There were no declarations of interest.
Minutes of the Meeting held on 13 November 2025

The minutes of the meeting held on 13 November 2025 were agreed as a true
record and were signed by the Chair

Planning Appeals

The Committee noted the Planning Appeal Decisions report which had been
circulated with the agenda.

Planning Applications

The Committee considered the written report of the Director — Development
and Economic Growth relating to the following applications, which had been
circulated previously.

28.1 25/01754/HAZARD - Removal of hazardous substances from the
process and storage tanks completed and surrender of Hazardous
Substance Consent under 07/02511/HAZARD - Uniper UK Ratcliffe
On Soar Power Station Green Street Ratcliffe On Soar
Nottinghamshire

page 1



29

DECISION

THAT AN ORDER, UNDER SECTION 14(1) OF THE PLANNING
(HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES) ACT 1990, REVOKING HAZARDOUS
SUBSTANCES CONSENT 07/02511/HAZARD, TO REMOVE CONSENT FOR
THE STORAGE OF FUEL OIL AND AMMONIA AT RATCLIFFE ON SOAR
POWER STATION, BE MADE AND SUBMITTED TO THE SECRETARY OF
STATE FOR CONFIRMATION.

Exclusion of the Public

It was resolved that under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act
1972, the public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting for application
reference: 23/01285/FUL, appeal reference: APP/P3040/W/24/3352048, on the
grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined
in Paragraphs 3 and 5 of part | of Schedule 12A of the Act.

The meeting closed at 6.17 pm.

CHAIR

page 2



Agenda ltem 4

Planning Committee
Thursday, 12 February 2026

Rushcliffe Planning Applications

Borough Council

Report of the Director — Development and Economic Growth

PLEASE NOTE:

1. Slides relating to the application will be shown where appropriate.
2. Plans illustrating the report are for identification only.
3. Background Papers - the application file for each application is available for

public inspection at the Rushcliffe Customer Contact Centre in accordance
with  the Local Government Act 1972 and relevant planning
legislation/Regulations.  Copies of the submitted application details are
available on the website http://planningon-line.rushcliffe.gov.uk/online-
applications/. This report is available as part of the Planning Committee Agenda
which can be viewed five working days before the meeting at
https://democracy.rushcliffe.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?Committeeld=140
Once a decision has been taken on a planning application the decision notice
is also displayed on the website.

4. Reports to the Planning Committee take into account diversity and Crime and
Disorder issues. Where such implications are material they are referred to in the
reports, where they are balanced with other material planning considerations.

5. With regard to S17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 the Police have
advised they wish to be consulted on the following types of applications: major
developments; those attracting significant numbers of the public e.g., public
houses, takeaways etc.; ATM machines, new neighbourhood facilities including
churches; major alterations to public buildings; significant areas of open
space/landscaping or linear paths; form diversification to industrial uses in
isolated locations.

6. Where the Planning Committee have power to determine an application but the
decision proposed would be contrary to the recommendation of the Director —
Development and Economic Growth, the application may be referred to the
Council for decision.

7. The following notes appear on decision notices for full planning permissions:
“‘When carrying out building works you are advised to use door types and
locks conforming to British Standards, together with windows that are
performance tested (i.e. to BS 7950 for ground floor and easily accessible
windows in homes). You are also advised to consider installing a burglar
alarm, as this is the most effective way of protecting against burglary.

page 3


http://planningon-line.rushcliffe.gov.uk/online-applications/
http://planningon-line.rushcliffe.gov.uk/online-applications/
http://planningon-line.rushcliffe.gov.uk/online-applications/
https://democracy.rushcliffe.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=140

If you have not already made a Building Regulations application we would
recommend that you check to see if one is required as soon as possible. Help
and guidance can be obtained by ringing 0115 914 8459, or by looking at our
web site at

http://www.rushcliffe.gov.uk/planningandbuilding/buildingcontrol

Application Address Page
25/01188/FUL Hilton Dental Surgery, 1 Hilton Crescent, West
Bridgford

Internal alterations and first floor extension over existing
single storey dental surgery to provide additional dental
services and facilities

Ward Gamston

Recommendation  That planning permission be refused

page 4


http://www.rushcliffe.gov.uk/planningandbuilding/buildingcontrol

BTur oG oV

Leawood Manor

¥

WA .

4

[

Application Number:
Hilton Dental Surgery
1 Hilton Crescent
West Bridgford
Nottinghamshire
NG2 6HT

25/01188/FUL

page 5

This map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey material with
the permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller
of His Majesty’s Stationary Office © Crown Copyright.
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and
may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.

Rushcliffe Borough Council - 1000194192024

scale 1:1250




This page is intentionally left blank



25/01188/FUL

Applicant Dr. K Missan

Location | Hilton Dental Surgery, 1 Hilton Crescent, West Bridgford

Proposal | Internal alterations and first floor extension over existing single storey

dental surgery to provide additional dental services and facilities.

Ward Gamston

THE SITE AND SURROUNDINGS

1.

The application site of 1 Hilton Crescent is occupied by a single storey, flat
roof, brick building, located on the corner of Valley Road and Hilton Crescent.
The building is currently used as a dental practice with three surgery rooms.
The building is approximately 3.4m in height, rendered white on the southern
and western elevations, and the entrance to the building is formed of blue
glazed window panels, fronting the highway boundary.

The footprint of the building covers a majority of the application site, with the
building extending to the northern, eastern and southwestern boundary. A
paved area is situated to the west of the building providing bin storage. To the
south is a paved area providing one car parking space.

The application site is located in what is primarily a residential area,
approximately 60m south of the Hilton Crescent Centre of Neighbourhood
Importance. To the north of the application site there is a flat roof car port that
is associated with the adjoining two storey pitched roof dwellings (no. 63 and
64 Hilton Grange) which have dormer windows on the rear elevation
overlooking the application site. Beyond to the north is Leawood Manor care
home. To the east of the application site is no. 1 Grange Park, a two storey
pitched roof dwelling, centrally positioned within its plot, with a balcony
wrapping round its front and western side. Well established trees, hedgerow
and fencing form the boundary with no.1 Grange Park. To the south and west
of the site, on the opposite side of Valley Road and Hilton Crescent, are two
storey pitched roof dwellings.

DETAILS OF THE PROPOSAL

4.

The current planning application seeks approval for a first floor extension and
internal alterations to the building to provide additional dental services and
facilities, including three additional surgery rooms. The plans and details of the
proposal can be found here.

The proposed first floor extension would create an additional floor to the dental
practice and would extend to the same extent as the existing building to the
east, south and west. To the north, the two storey element of the proposal is
set back from the site boundary by ¢3.3m, except for a small element to house
the staircase to the first floor, which would measure c4.4m in width and ¢3.3m
in depth.

page 7



https://planningon-line.rushcliffe.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=SYT4KXNLHHM00

The proposed first floor extension would have a flat roof, increasing the height
of the building to ¢6.3m at the building entrance and cém for the main body of
the building, except over the staircase, which would have a hipped and pitched
roof. This element would have a ridge height of c5.7m and an eaves height of
c4.2m.

As a result of consultation responses from Nottinghamshire County Council
Highways, additional information has been submitted which has been
considered as part of the assessment below.

SITE HISTORY

8.

10.

11.

12.

14/00843/DISCON — conditions 3 (facing and roof materials), 5 (landscaping)
and 6 (bin storage) of planning permission 13/02342/FUL were discharged in
June 2014.

13/02342/FUL — permission was granted in February 2014 for the partial
demolition, internal and external alterations, single storey rear and side
extensions, rendering of external walls and glazed entrance lobby to the
existing dental surgery.

13/01167/VAR — permission was granted in August 2013 for the variation of
condition 5 of planning permission 12/01335/FUL to allow commencement of
work prior to completion of 278 Highways Act Agreement and the variation of
condition 10 to allow submission of details of any solar pv panels prior to their
installation.

12/01335/FUL — permission was granted in October 2012 for the partial
demolition; internal and external alterations; single storey rear extension; two
storey side extension; rendering of external walls to existing dental surgery;
construct first floor over dental surgery to form 2 flats with independent
entrance; dropped kerb and off-street parking; bin stores.

12/00586/FUL — an application was withdrawn in June 2012 for the partial
demolition; internal and external alterations; single storey rear extension; two
storey side extension; rendering of external wall of existing dental surgery;
construct first floor over dental surgery to form 2 flats with independent
entrance; dropped kerb and off-street parking; 1.8m high fence to east
boundary

REPRESENTATIONS

Ward Councillor(s)

13.

Ward Councillor, Clir D Virdi, supports the proposal, stating:

“Hilton Dental Practice is a long-established NHS dental services provider within the
Gamston Ward and has served the community for over 20 years. It is a successful
and much-valued local health facility that plays a vital role in meeting the oral health
needs of residents.

The proposed extension will enable the practice to increase capacity, responding
directly to rising demand from both Gamston and neighbouring communities,

page 8



particularly in light of recent housing growth and the ongoing need for NHS and
specialist dental provision. This represents an important investment in local health
infrastructure.

The application demonstrates clear alignment with sustainable development
principles and planning policy:

e Community benefit: There is strong public support, reflecting the importance of
the practice as a trusted community asset.

e Sustainable transport links: The site is within walking distance of Alford Road
bus routes and other public transport options, reducing reliance on car travel.

e Accessible location: Situated alongside a local shopping precinct with public
parking, the practice is easily accessible for patients of all ages and abilities.

e Planning compliance: The proposed extension accords with permitted planning
regulations and does not raise issues regarding accessibility or parking. There
has been no audit/trail of parking facilities causing any issues for the practice.

e Health and wellbeing outcomes: The expansion directly supports the objectives
of the Local Plan and National Planning Policy Framework to promote healthy,
inclusive communities and accessible healthcare provision.

In summary, this application represents a proportionate, sustainable, and policy-
compliant response to local healthcare needs. It will strengthen an established and
well-used NHS service, deliver significant community benefit, and should be
supported.”

14.  Ward Councillor, Clir J Wheeler, supports the proposal, stating:

“I note the public support for expansion of the dental facilities at Hilton Grange and |
support this in principal. What is crucial is that the application meets the planning
criteria especially that of NCC Highways and | would encourage discussions with
Highways and the applicant to facilitate this. It is clear it is not feasible to increase
parking at the site but there is provision nearby. | hope a resolution can be met to
meet the needed expansion and to satisfy highways and RBC.”

Statutory and Other Consultees

15. James Naish MP (Member of Parliament for Rushcliffe) provided comments
following contact by several residents. He encouraged the Local Planning
Authority along with the Highways Authority to think creatively to find potential
solutions to the significant ask for parking. He requested for all on and off road
parking options to be fully considered and explored, given the significant desire
to see NHS dental provision expanded to serve local people. With regards to
this, he noted that the applicant has tried to do this by securing six parking
spaces at Leawood Manor Care Home for staff to use. He also raised that very
few residents have raised concerns about on-road parking.

16. He welcomed the positive approach to an application in Bingham (ref:
24/00714/FUL) which has recently moved and expanded, despite a central
local and no dedicated parking. He hoped that a similarly pragmatic outcome
could be reached with this matter, given the obvious wider public benefit.

17.  Rushcliffe Borough Council Environmental Health Officer advised that
they had no objections on environmental health grounds, and recommended

page 9



the inclusion of four conditions covering the following to minimise potential
nuisance and to safeguard the amenity of neighbouring residential properties:

e Hours of use

¢ Delivery and waste collection times

e Submission of details regarding noise levels of any externally mounted plant
or equipment and internally mounted equipment which vents internally

e Submission of specification and noise assessment for any air source heat
pumps.

18.  Nottinghamshire County Council Highways detailed conversations with
Nottinghamshire County Council Highways have been had over the course of
the application. Full copies of their responses can be found here. In summary,
they found that the proposal presents a considerable shortfall in off-street
parking, and as such, would likely generate a significant increase in on-street
parking in the vicinity. This would likely have an adverse impact on access for
vehicles, including service and emergency vehicles, restrict junction and
access visibility splays, and could also obstruct footways and be a hazard to
cyclists and pedestrians, all to the detriment of highway safety. For these
reasons, the Highways Authority recommended the refusal of the application.

19. A site meeting with the Highways Officer was offered. However, the Highways
Officer did not see the benefits, given that they had visited the site and had set
out within their various responses the highways concerns.

Local Residents and the General Public

20. 32 written representations have been received with 31 supporting the
application, including representations from neighbouring properties, and 1
objection to the application from a neighbouring property. It is noted that 9 of
the supporting comments were received from members of the public that reside
outside of the Borough. The comments are summarised as follows.

Support

a) The proposals will improve access to healthcare services

b) A lot of new homes have been built in the area with no extra provision for
dental services

c) The practice provides a valuable service to the area

d) The proposals are of a good design

e) The proposals have been designed to include a lift and accommodate
wheelchairs, supporting the elderly population

f) Planning permission has already been granted for a first floor extension,
and this design is almost identical

g) The proposal will lead to job creation

h) The practice provides good care

i) The practice is the most easily accessible practice in the area from a public
transport and parking point of view

j) There are two nearby free car parks with many nearby roads with on-street
parking

k) The expansion of the practice is needed to meet demand

I) There are no parking issues

page 10


https://planningon-line.rushcliffe.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=SYT4KXNLHHM00

m) This is one of only two practices in the West Bridgford area that provides

NHS dental care and specialist NHS dental care

Alford Road playing fields generates more parking/traffic issues then the
dental practice could

| can see that every care has been taken to minimise the impact to us from
a privacy, light and shadowing perspective

The cricket/rugby club on Stamford Road generate traffic levels which the
dentist practice couldn’t, and this is tolerated

This practice offers NHS dental care which is difficult to access

Cannot see how the proposals will impact on the levels of traffic

The practice has been growing for years and it's not resulted in adverse
parking or traffic

It's rare to find this level of parking at a dentist

The extension to the practice would provide more benefits than any
traffic/parking issue

The current set up causes no issues so don't think the extension will causes
issues

w) Castle Healthcare Practice was an amalgamation of three GP surgeries

across West Bridgford, with additional facilities provided, making it far
busier than this dental practice could ever be, yet it doesn't have a very big
car park. There shouldn't be one rule for one facility and one for another
Plans to recently approve the City Ground have recently been approved by
Rushcliffe but they only have about 100 car parking spaces

| have always travelled to the practice by bus. There is a bus stop 100 years
from the practice so it is well served by public transport.

Since the enlargement of the current dental practice, the traffic has become
very bad with cars parked everywhere, including the pavements on both
sides during the daytime. The entrance to Grange Park and Valley Gardens
has become more dangerous from 8AM to 5:30PM because of the parking.
The plan to let the proposed new rooms to other dentists to work there will
potentially cause chaos in such a small residential area.

If another floor is put on the existing building, which is taller than normal,
the two houses on the side will be deprived of daylight. The two houses are
facing the wall of the old people's home and a very narrow road at the front
of their homes. The only daylight they get is from the windows at the back.

PLANNING POLICY

21. The decision on any application should be taken in accordance with the
Development Plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The
Development Plan for Rushcliffe consists of The Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 1:
Core Strategy (LPP1) and The Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 2: Land and Planning
Policies (LPP2). Other material considerations include the National Planning
Policy Framework (NPPF) the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
and the Rushcliffe Design Code (2025) (RDC).

Relevant National Planning Policies and Guidance

22. The relevant national policy considerations for this proposal are those
contained within the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the

page 11



23.

24.

25.

26.

proposal should be considered within the context of a presumption in favour of
sustainable development as a core principle of the NPPF.

The NPPF includes a presumption in favour of sustainable development. Local
planning authorities should approach decisions on proposed development in a
positive and creative way and work proactively with applicants to secure
developments that will improve the economic, social and environmental
conditions of the area. In assessing and determining development proposals,
local planning authorities should apply the presumption in favour of sustainable
development. Decision-makers at every level should seek to approve
applications for sustainable development where possible.

Achieving sustainable development means that the planning system has three
overarching objectives, an economic objective, a social objective and an
environmental objective, which are interdependent and need to be pursued in
mutually supportive ways, so that opportunities can be taken to secure net
gains across each of the different objectives.

As such, the following sections in the NPPF with regard to achieving
sustainable development are considered most relevant to this planning
application:

Section 2 - Achieving Sustainable Development

Section 8 - Promoting Healthy and Safe Communities

Section 9 - Promoting Sustainable Transport

Section 12 - Achieving Well Designed Places.

Section 15 - Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment.

Full details of the NPPF can be found here.

Relevant Local Planning Policies and Guidance

27.

28.

29.

The following policies of the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy are
considered to be relevant to the current proposal:

* Policy 1 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
* Policy 10 - Design and Enhancing Local Identity

» Policy 12 - Local Services and Healthy Lifestyles

* Policy 17 — Biodiversity.

The following policies of the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 2: Land and Planning
Policies (LPP2) are considered to be relevant to the current proposal:

* Policy 1 - Development Requirements

* Policy 38 - Non-Designated Biodiversity Assets and the Wider Ecological
Network

* Policy 39 - Health Impacts of Development.

The Rushcliffe Design Code is a supplementary planning document (SPD) that
has been adopted by the Borough Council on 1 September 2025. The Design
Code sets out the design requirements for new development in the Borough
and will be used in the determination of planning applications.

page 12


https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/67aafe8f3b41f783cca46251/NPPF_December_2024.pdf

30.

The policies in the Local Plan Part 1, Local Plan Part 2 and the Rushcliffe
Design Code are available in full along with any supporting text on the
Council’'s website here.

APPRAISAL

31.

32.

33.

34.

35.

36.

37.

Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be
determined in accordance with the development plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise. The Framework does not change the
statutory status of the development plan as the starting point for decision
making. Proposed development that accords with an up-to-date Local Plan
should be approved, and proposed development that conflicts should be
refused unless other material considerations indicate otherwise.

Principle of the development

The overarching Policy 1 in the LPP1 reinforces that a positive and proactive
approach to decision making should be had which reflects the presumption in
favour of sustainable development contained in the NPPF. Chapter 8 of the
NPPF provides that planning decisions should aim to enable and support
healthy lives through both promoting good health and preventing ill-health,
especially where this would address identified local health and well-being
needs.

Policy 12 of the LPP1 states that the provision of new, extended or improved
community facilities will be supported where they meet a local need. Policy 39
of the LPP2 reiterates this, stating that development proposals should promote,
support and enhance health by supporting the provision and access to
healthcare services.

The proposal relates to a first floor extension to an existing dental practice at
1 Hilton Crescent to provide additional dental services and facilities, including
three additional surgery rooms. The dental practice provides NHS dental care
to adults and children. The dental practice also provides specialist NHS dental
services with referrals received from the wider Nottinghamshire and Newark
area. The proposed extension would allow the practice to provide additional
NHS dental care to local residents and the wider Nottinghamshire area. It is
also noted that a number of comments submitted by members of the public
state their support and refer to a need for the expansion of an NHS dental
practice.

Taking the above into account, the principle of the development may be
acceptable subject to the following additional considerations:-

Design and Impact on the Character of the Surrounding Area

Section 12 of the NPPF states that the creation of high-quality buildings and
places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should
achieve. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development.

Policy 10 of the LPP1 requires development to be assessed in terms of
massing, scale and proportion as well as materials, architectural style and
detailing, with Policy 1 of the LPP2 requiring matters such as the scale, density,
height, massing, design, layout and materials of the proposal to be sympathetic

page 13


https://www.rushcliffe.gov.uk/planning-growth/planning-policy/local-plan/

38.

39.

40.

41.

42.

to the character and appearance of the neighbouring buildings and the
surrounding area. Policy 1 of the LPP2 states that proposals should not lead
to an over intensive form of development or be overbearing in relation to
neighbouring properties.

Code 2.1 of the Rushcliffe Design Code states that proposals must have regard
to the relevant Area Type vision and worksheets, taking into account the
development pattern of the local area, such as building lines, plot structure and
grain.

The application building is currently a single storey, flat roof building. The
application proposes a first floor, predominantly flat roof extension to the
building. The proposed flat roof extension would increase the height of the
building to ¢6.3m at the building entrance and c6m for the main body of the
building. A small element of the first floor extension, which houses the
staircase, would have a hipped and pitched roof with a ridge height of ¢5.7m
and an eaves height of c4.2m. The application building neighbours two storey
dwellings on all sides, and the surrounding area is predominantly characterised
by two storey dwellings. The proposed first floor extension is considered to be
of a height that would be appropriate and in keeping within the context of the
area. A flat roof is not typical of the surrounding area, but is unique to the
application building. Maintaining a predominantly flat roof design allows the
unique character of the building to be retained.

The proposed first floor extension would extend to the same extent as the
existing building to the east, south and west. To the north, the first floor would
be set back from the site boundary by ¢3.3m, except for a small element to
house the staircase to the first floor, which would extend to the site’s northern
boundary. It is considered that the first floor extension would not increase the
mass or scale of the building in a way that would result in a built form that would
appear incongruous with the surrounding area.

Whilst amenity impacts are considered further within the report, it is noted that
the design of the first floor extension has included a ¢3.3m setback from the
northern site boundary and the nearest dwellings on Hilton Grange, except for
a small element to house the staircase to the first floor. This element would
extend to the northern site boundary and would have a width of c4.4m. This
element has been designed with a hipped and pitched roof, with a ridge height
of ¢5.7m, and the pitched roof sloping down towards the northern boundary,
resulting in an eaves height of c4.2m. This element is reduced in height
compared to the main body of the building, and the hipped and pitched roof
ensures this element of the proposal does not create a large mass next to the
neighbouring dwellings on Hilton Grange. It is considered that the design of
this element has been informed by the context of the neighbouring dwellings
and would be of an acceptable scale and proportion.

Regarding external materials, the existing building is red brick with white
render. The entrance to the building is formed of blue glazed windows. The
proposed first floor extension would use red brick on the eastern elevation to
match the existing, and white render on the north, south and west elevations
to match the existing. At the building entrance, the blue glazing at ground floor
level would be retained, and the first floor extension would be clad in a grey
metal standing seam. Additionally, the element of the extension which houses
the stairs to the first floor would be clad in a grey metal standing seam. A single
page 14



43.

44,

45.

46.

47.

48.

49.

ply membrane would be used for the flat roof, and a grey metal standing seam
would be used for the hipped and pitched roof.

The continued use of red brick and white render is considered acceptable. The
introduction of grey metal standing seam cladding is not a typical material used
in the surrounding area. However, the existing building is unique through its
use of blue glazing at the building entrance. Retaining the blue glazing at
ground floor and cladding the proposed first floor extension above the building
entrance, and the small element housing the staircase, in a grey metal standing
seam would enhance the contemporary appearance of the building. This is not
considered to harm the character of the area. National and local policies allow
for innovation, change, and contemporary solutions. The proposed external
materials would add variety to the local vernacular of the area and would
represent a modern design that would contribute to the quality of the area’s
character.

It is noted that a number of supportive comments received from members of
the public raised that the proposals were of a good design.

Taking the above into account, it is considered that the proposed first floor
extension would cause no undue harm to the street scene and would not have
any undue impact on the existing property or the wider character of the area.
The proposal would therefore accord with local and national policy and the
Rushcliffe Design Code.

Impact on Amenity

Policy 10 of LPP1 requires new development proposals be assessed in terms
of their impact on the amenity of occupiers or nearby residents. Policy 1 of
LPP2 sets out that permission may be granted for development provided it
does not result in significant effects upon the amenity of adjoining properties
or the surrounding area by reason of levels of activity and traffic movements
on the site, loss of privacy or noise pollution.

Impact from increased activity and traffic

The application building is located in a primarily residential area, on the corner
of Valley Road and Hilton Crescent. Approximately 60m north of the application
building is the Hilton Crescent Centre of Neighbourhood Importance, which
provides a range of local retail and service stores. At this Centre is a free car
park.

The surrounding residential properties would be accustomed to a level of
activity in the area due to people travelling to visit the existing dental practice
and the Hilton Crescent Centre. The proposed first floor extension would
expand the dental practice through the creation of three new surgery rooms,
increasing the number of people visiting the dental practice throughout the day.
However, it is not considered that the proposed first floor extension, and the
associated increase in visitors to the dental practice, would lead to a significant
increase in activity compared to what already exists and would therefore not
cause any undue harm to the amenity of nearby residents.

The proposal would lead to an increase in the number of people visiting the
dental practice throughout the day, due to the expansion and creation of three
page 15



50.

51.

52.

53.

54.

55.

new surgery rooms. It is noted that there is one existing car parking space on
site, with no additional car parking provided as part of this application. It is also
recognised that the application site is located in a residential area, accessible
by walking and cycling for nearby residents, and located near bus stops on
Alford Road which is served by services which connect West Bridgford and
Edwalton to Nottingham City Centre. The application site is therefore
accessible for some via non-car modes of transport.

Whilst the impacts of parking provision in terms of highway safety is discussed
separately in this report, when considering residential amenity, it is not
considered that the proposed first floor extension, and the associated increase
in visitors to the dental practice, would increase parking on street to such an
extent as to have any undue impact to the amenity of nearby residents.

Impact from the built form

The proposed first floor extension would not increase the built footprint of the
existing building, with the proposed first floor extension extending to the same
extent as the existing building to the east, south and west. To the south and
west, the first floor extension would have a separation distance of over c20m
with the nearest residential properties. To the east, the nearest element of the
habitable dwelling of 1 Grange Park is c18m from the application building, with
established trees and hedgerow forming the boundary of the site. It is
considered that the scale and massing of the proposed first floor extension
would not have any undue impact on residential amenity to the east, south and
west of the application building in terms of overbearing or overshadowing due
to the separation distance and boundary treatment between the application
building and the dwellings.

Located to the north are the two nearest dwellings to the application site - no.
63 and no. 64 Hilton Grange. The rear elevations of the two dwellings face the
application building, with first floor dormer windows on their rear elevations
overlooking the application site and their rear gardens extending to the
application site’s northern boundary. The existing application building and no.
63 and no.64 Hilton Grange are separated by c9.9m.

A resident from the eastern neighbouring dwelling, no.1 Grange Park, raised
concerns about the proposed first floor extension due to the potential loss of
daylight to no. 63 and no. 64 Hilton Grange. In contrast, a resident from no. 64
Hilton Grange provided supportive comments stating, “I can see that every
care has been taken to minimise the impact to us from a privacy, light and
shadowing perspective”.

In order to reduce any over-shadowing or over-bearing, the proposed first floor
extension to the north would be set back from the site boundary by ¢3.3m,
except for a small element which houses the staircase to the first floor, which
would extend to the site’s northern boundary. This element would have a width
of c4.4m, and has been designed with a hipped and pitched roof, with a ridge
height of ¢5.7m, with the pitch sloping down towards the northern boundary,
resulting in an eaves height of c4.2m.

Whilst not a householder application, the Design Code provides guidance

within its householder chapter at Section 5.2 regarding the principle of the 25

degree rule which is relevant to the consideration of this application. To
page 16



56.

57.

58.

59.

60.

61.

62.

determine the impact on a neighbouring dwelling’s access to daylight, a 25
degree line should be drawn from the centre point of the closest neighbouring
ground floor window of a habitable room towards the proposed extension.
Development should not intersect the 25 degree line, as this would indicate the
obstruction of daylight.

The ¢3.3m set back of the first floor extension from the site’s northern
boundary, combined with the roof design of the small element which houses
the staircase, ensures that when the 25 degree rule guidance is applied from
the nearest habitable ground floor window at no. 63 and no. 64 Hilton Grange,
there would be no intersection of the 25 degree line. As such, indicating that
any obstruction of daylight would not be unacceptably harmful and thereby
adhering to the guidance within the Rushcliffe Design Code.

It is considered that the set back of the extension, and the design of the hipped
and pitched roof, ensures that the proposal does not create a large mass next
to the neighbouring dwellings at no. 63 and no. 64 Hilton Grange, so as to
cause no undue harm to amenity in terms of overbearing and overshadowing.

Impact from new fenestration

First floor fenestration is proposed on the south and west elevations. However,
it is considered that the separation distance of over c20m between the
application building and the nearest residential properties to the south and west
would ensure there is no undue impact to amenity with regards to overlooking.

No fenestration is proposed to the eastern elevation, with the elevation
remaining blank. There is therefore no impact to amenity with regards to
overlooking.

First floor fenestration is proposed on the northern elevation which faces the
rear of no. 63 and no. 64 Hilton Grange. The submitted Design and Access
Statement confirms that this fenestration is to be obscurely glazed and fixed
closed. It is considered that should planning permission be granted, the
inclusion of a condition requiring the fenestration on the northern elevation to
be obscurely glazed and non-opening would be reasonable to safeguard the
amenity of the occupiers of the neighbouring dwellings from any overlooking
impact.

Noise impacts

The Borough Council's Environmental Health Officer has reviewed the
application and the submitted details as technical advisors. Whilst they had no
objections to the proposal, they recommended a number of conditions, which
are considered below.

The submitted Proposed Plans and Elevations indicate the installation of two
outdoor units for the air conditioning system on the southern elevation. The
units would be located at ground floor level behind the existing boundary wall,
so are not considered to impact upon visual amenity. However, the
Environmental Health Officer recommended the inclusion of a condition should
planning permission be granted that requires the submission of noise levels for
any externally mounted plant or equipment, together with any internally
mounted equipment which vents externally, and the location of such
page 17



63.

64.

65.

66.

67.

68.

69.

equipment, prior to the commencement of development. It is considered that
the inclusion of such a condition upon any grant of planning permission would
be reasonable to protect residential amenity.

Additionally, the Officer recommended the inclusion of a condition that required
the submission of full details and a noise assessment prior to the installation
of any air source heat pumps. The submitted Design and Access Statement
indicates the inclusion of air source heat pumps within the proposal. In the
interests of safeguarding residential amenity, it is therefore considered
reasonable to include such a condition upon any grant of planning permission.

The Environmental Health Officer also recommended the inclusion of
conditions with regards to hours of operation and delivery and waste collection
hours. It would be considered reasonable to include such conditions to protect
the amenity of nearby residents.

Taking the above into account, area, it is considered that the proposal would
not cause harm to the amenity of residents in the vicinity and the application is
in accordance Policy 10 of LPP1 and Policy 1 of LPP2 and the guidance of the
Rushcliffe Design Code.

Impact on Highways

Chapter 9 of the NPPF sets out that development should only be prevented or
refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on
highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would
be severe.

Policy 1 of the LPP2 sets out that planning permission for extensions will be
granted provided that the provision of parking is in accordance with advice
provided by the Highways Authority.

The application seeks permission for a first floor extension to expand the
existing dental practice through the creation of three new surgery rooms. The
existing dental practice has one off-street car parking space and its dimensions
complies with the current parking standards set out within the Nottinghamshire
Highway Design Guide (NHDG). No additional off-street car parking spaces
are proposed. It is noted that the site is constrained in terms of space, with the
footprint of the building covering a majority of the application site, with there
being no further room on the application site to provide additional off-street
parking beyond the current situation.

Nottinghamshire County Council Highways Authority were consulted as
technical advisor, and advised that in accordance with the NHDG, dentist
surgeries require the provision of one parking space per member of staff plus
two spaces per consulting room. Within the supporting information, it was
confirmed that the dental practice currently employs 10 members of staff and
would not expect the number of staff to increase due to the proposals.
Therefore, the Highways Authority advised the proposals would require a
parking provision of 22 off-street car parking spaces in accordance with the
NHDG. The Highways Authority also noted that following the expansion of the
dental practice, the number of staff employed would likely increase, which
would further increase off-street parking demand. The Highways Authority
acknowledged that the existing practice would likely generate some degree of
page 18



70.

71.

72.

73.

on-street parking, but stated that the increase in patients and staff expected as
a result of the proposal would increase parking demand significantly.

The Highways Authority noted that the submitted Design and Access
Statement states that most staff and patients are from the surrounding West
Bridgford and Edwalton area and can access the practice by foot or via local
bus connections. However, the Highways Authority considered much of West
Bridgford and Edwalton to be beyond reasonable walking distance, so walking
would be unlikely to be considered a convenient travel option. They also
considered the bus routes serving the site as unlikely to be considered
convenient for access to the practice for much of the surrounding area. In
addition to this, they noted that the Design and Access Statement states that
the dental practice is one of only two practices in the West
Bridgford/Edwalton/Gamston area that provides NHS dental care to adults and
children, catering to a population of close to 50,000 people. The Design and
Access Statement also stated that it is the only practice in the area providing
specialist NHS dental service for which referrals are received from the wider
Nottinghamshire and Newark area. The Highways Authority stated that given
the wide area the practice covers, they consider travel by private car to be the
most prevalent option.

The Highways Authority stated that new or expanding commercial
development must provide sufficient on-site parking to meet the demand
generated and should not rely on on-street parking or existing public car
parking facilities to overcome a shortfall. Whilst the Design and Access
statement states that there is public car parking available near the Hilton
Crecent shops and at the Alford Road car park some 500m away, the
Highways Authority noted that both parking areas are remote from the site, and
whilst within a reasonable walking distance, they are unlikely to be considered
convenient by visiting patients when there is unrestricted on-street parking
immediately adjacent the dental practice. Further, they advised that the car
parking areas referred to serve existing facilities, and as such, reliance on
these would remove existing parking provision.

Overall, the Highways Authority considered the proposals to present a
considerable shortfall in off-street parking, and as such, would likely generate
a significant increase in on-street parking in the vicinity. They advised this
would likely have an adverse impact on access for vehicles, including service
and emergency vehicles, restrict junction and access visibility splays, and
could also obstruct footways and be a hazard to cyclists and pedestrians, all
to the detriment to highway safety. Therefore the Highways Authority
considered the development to be contrary to the objectives of paragraphs 115
and 117 of the National Planning Policy Framework as the proposal fails to:
mitigate the likely significant impacts of the development on the transport
network in terms of highway safety and congestion; to create places that are
safe and that minimise conflicts between pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles; or
to allow for the efficient delivery of goods, and access by service and
emergency vehicles. For these reasons, the Highways Authority
recommended the refusal of the application.

When asked if there were mitigation strategies that would enable the applicant

to overcome the concerns regarding parking, the Highways Authority

confirmed that they did not consider there to be any mitigation that could be

secured to overcome their concerns. They stated that the existing surgery is
page 19



74.

75.

already substandard in terms of off-street parking provision, and the proposed
expansion would create a significant increase in demand. The provision of
Traffic Regulation Orders to restrict/control on-street parking was not
considered appropriate as this would disadvantage existing
residents/businesses, and would result in displaced parking elsewhere. They
also reiterated that it was not acceptable to rely on on-street parking to cater
for new/expanded commercial development.

The Highways Authority noted that the application site area is constrained, and
as such there appears no opportunity to provide improved parking facilities,
without additional land being available. They confirmed that remote parking
facilities would not be accepted as a suitable solution, as people will park in
the most convenient place available, which they stated in this instance would
be on-street adjacent to the dental practice.

The agent of the application raised a number of points in response to the
Highways Authority position, which can be summarised as follows:

e An application in Bingham (ref: 24/00714/FUL) was approved in July 2024
for the change of use from a residential dwelling to a dental practice, and in
this case the Highways Authority directed towards their standing advice.
The agent considered the application to be similar in terms of scale and in
terms of parking provision. They queried why the position of the Highways
Authority varied between the two applications.

e The number of consulting rooms would increase by three, with no new
members of staff employed. In accordance with the NHDG, the number of
off-street car parking spaces potentially required is six. The Highways
Authority should only be considering the potential impacts of the additional
requirement generated from the application. The potential increase of six
parking spaces could be accommodated within the public car park on Hilton
Crescent or on surrounding roads, without causing nuisance to local
residents.

e Referring to the public car park on Hilton Crescent as ‘remote’ is misleading,
given it is approximately 60m away from the practice. The availability of free
public off-street car parking within 100m of the practice is better than that
available to most healthcare or commercial premises. It would not be
unreasonable to expect a patient to make use of the public car park on
Hilton Crescent before looking for an on-street space.

e The Highways Authority’s position that it is not acceptable to rely on on-
street parking is unreasonable, as it would preclude new development or
the expansion of existing premises on any site which did not fully meet the
NHDG parking standards, regardless of mitigating factors such as location,
proximity to public parking or public transport. The surrounding on-street
parking caters to several other businesses in the area. Comments from
local residents received in relation to this application note that the volume
of cars from other facilities nearby far exceeds what would be generated by
the additional consulting rooms.

e The Highways Authority appears dismissive of the potential for patients to
access the dental practice via any means apart from the private car. Nearby
bus stops, approximately 150m-200m from the dental practice, on Albert
Road are served frequently by several bus routes which serve the local
area. Regarding walking, the agent provided a map illustrating areas that
were within a 10 minute, 20 minute and 30 minute reasonable walking

page 20



76.

distance. The agent stated that the majority of West Bridgford was within a
reasonable walking distance of 30 minutes, with 20 minutes and 10 minutes
walking times also covering a large area. They also noted the dental
practice was within a 10-minute bike ride of most of West Bridgford,
Gamston and Edwalton.

The Highways Authority refers to Traffic Regulation Orders, which are not
proposed as part of the application. The potential increase in the required
number of car parking spaces, determined by the agent as six, is less than
the total number of spaces required for staff. The agent commented that
they were aware the Highways Authority elsewhere conditioning a Travel
Plan for staff to encourage them to use non-car methods to access the
workplace or car-sharing.

Imposing the requirement of 22 parking spaces for a site of this size is
unrealistic and will result in the practice having to relocate outside the local
area, most likely to a remote location with space for parking but no public
transport or pedestrian links to the detriment of the local community and in
contradiction to national and local policies around strengthening local
facilities and promoting sustainable transport.

The Highways Authority considered the additional information provided by the
agent and confirmed that their previous recommendation remains. They
addressed the agents’ comments, as summarised below:

In the case of the Bingham application (ref: 24/00714/FUL) the Highways
Authority referred the Local Planning Authority to their standing advice, and
it was the Local Planning Authority who determined that there would not be
a severe impact. However, the proposal was located within Bingham Town
Centre, where on-street parking controls are in place to prevent parking
having an impact on access/safety. On-street parking is already prevalent
within the town centre, where permitted, and the proposal would not
materially change the situation. Additional on-street parking demand within
the town centre location is unlikely to be of a highway safety concern, but
more of an amenity issue, which is an issue to be considered by the Local
Planning Authority. The approved surgery in Bingham is not comparable to
the application site.

The Highways Authority concerns relate to the additional demand to be
generated from the application, which will exacerbate the current situation.
It would not be unreasonable to assume two staff members per consulting
room (e.g. dentist and dental nurse), plus two patients per room at any one
time (e.g. one being seen and one waiting), which would generate a parking
demand of 12 spaces from the proposed development. The expansion of
the surgery may also generate a requirement for additional support staff,
which would create additional demand. Therefore, the level of parking
demand likely to be generated over the existing situation is significant.
The Hilton Crescent public parking area is within proximity to the site,
however, on-street parking on Hilton Crescent/Valley Road is more
convenient. The Hilton Crescent public parking area serves several existing
commercial premises, and would appear to be well used, with it being
unclear whether any spare capacity exits. The proposed development
would take up a considerable proportion of the available parking, taking this
amenity away from the existing premises, and therefore would still likely
lead to displaced on-street parking. The car park at Alford Road is too

page 21



77.

remote from the site to be considered an appropriate option to serve the
dental practice, and it also already serves an existing facility.

Some patients/staff may travel to the site by modes other than the private
car, but when considering the location of the site, travel by car will likely be
the most dominant. It is not possible to control how people choose to travel,
and even if walking/public transport are reasonable options, it does not
mean that people will necessarily choose them over driving. People will
often fit dental appointments around work and other
commitments/activities, which will impact on their choice of travel, and
driving is likely to be considered the most convenient option. Therefore, a
worst-case scenario in terms of likely parking demand has been
considered.

Within the submitted Design and Access Statement, it is stated that the
expansion of the dental practice is partly to accommodate the increase in
demand as a result of rapid increase in housing development in the area.
The significant new development in the area is beyond a reasonable
walking distance from the surgery, reducing the likelihood that people will
choose to walk. A larger surgery as proposed will likely attract patients from
further afield, and as such, a larger proportion of new patients will likely
travel by car.

The agent of the application provided further additional information in response
to the Highways Authority, which is summarised below:

Whilst ten members of staff are employed by the dental practice, not all
work in the practice at the same time. The usage ranges between a
minimum of three to a maximum of seven staff at one time. Two members
of staff walk or cycle to the practice and work 3-4 days a week, two drive
and work one day a week, two car share, and one drives and uses the off-
street car parking space.

The need to consider additional support staff is not valid as the necessary
staff are already employed at the practice. The requirement of two parking
spaces per surgery for patients is excessive as the appointments are
scheduled to minimise overlap between patients.

Staff parking can be controlled via contractual obligations to not use on
street parking. The applicant has also agreed the use of six off-street
parking spaces at the neighbouring Leawood Manor care home for staff
use, which accounts for half the additional parking requirements as per the
Highways Authority’s assumptions.

The assumptions made regarding patterns of patient behaviour is
contradictory to what has been experienced. After Covid more people work
from home which allows them to use alternate modes of transport other
than cars. The practice has had to reduce its evening working hours due to
lower demand at these times. The practice also sees a large percentage of
older patients, who use free bus passes to access the clinic.

Assuming that additional parking for the dental practice would take amenity
away from the existing premises in the area implies that patients of the
dental practice would not use any of the other nearby businesses, which is
unlikely.

The Highways Authority response regarding the Bingham application (ref:
24/00714/FUL) as not comparable was dismissive. How is the additional
parking demand in the case of the Bingham application not a highway

page 22



78.

79.

80.

safety concern. Patients would park on surrounding residential streets
when unable to park near the dental practice at Bingham.

e The applicant is open to advice on how the situation can be better
managed. A Travel Plan can be prepared for staff to encourage them to use
non-car methods to access the dental practice or car sharing.

The Highways Authority reviewed the additional information provided by the
agent of the application, and confirmed that their previous recommendation
remained. They responded as summarised:

e With regards to the staffing levels at the dental practice, a worst case
scenario in terms of likely parking demand would need to be considered,
based on the maximum capacity of the facility. Current travel arrangements
of existing staff have limited bearing as this is changeable over time.

e Two parking spaces per consulting room for patients is set out within the
NHDG parking standards and is to account for the overlap between
patients. There is potential for patients to arrive early for their appointment,
and appointments often overrun, and as such overlaps will be expected.
There is no way of controlling how appointments are actually scheduled.

e An agreement to use six off-street parking spaces at the neighbouring
Leawood Manor Care Home for staff use is acknowledged. However, the
parking is associated with the Care Home, and there is no evidence that
spare capacity exists. The land also falls outside the applicant’s control,
and as such, there is no guarantee that the parking will always be available
in the future. Furthermore, it is remote from the site.

e It is not possible to control how people choose to travel, be that staff or
patients. Whilst a Travel Plan can put recommendations in place, there is
no guarantee that staff will choose to travel more sustainably.

e Whilst more people work from home and therefore may have more flexibility
to schedule appointments, there will still be time limitations which will impact
on choice of travel. It is noted that the practice sees a large percentage of
older patients who use free bus passes to access the clinic, yet no evidence
has been provided to back this statement up. Additionally, as previously
noted, the expansion of the surgery to accommodate a wider catchment
area will most likely increase the proportion of patients travelling by car.

e The need for the facility and the level of local support is not a highway
consideration. The proposal is for a commercial development, which should
provide sufficient off-street parking to accommodate the demand to be
generated, without relying on on-street parking to overcome a shortfall.

A site meeting between the Highways Authority Officer, Borough Council
Officer’s, and the applicant/agent was proposed to the Highways Authority.
However, they confirmed that they had already attended the site, and did not
see the benefits of a meeting, given their previous responses setting out the
highway concerns.

It is noted that a neighbouring property has objected to the proposed
development due to the current situation regarding on-street parking near the
dental practice, and the impacts that would be caused by the proposed
expansion of the practice. However, it is also noted that a number of supportive
comments were received from members of the public, stating that there are no
parking issues, the dental practice is one of the most accessible in terms of
parking, and that various other facilities have worse parking situations.

page 23



81.

82.

83.

84.

85.

86.

A letter from James Naish MP was also received which requested that all on
and off-road parking options be fully considered and explored, noting that few
residents raised concerns about on-road parking. He also noted the approach
taken in the Bingham application (ref: 24/00714/FUL).

Engagement with the agent of the application was undertaken with regards to
the use of six off-street parking spaces at the neighbouring Leawood Manor
care home for staff use. In order to be a material consideration, an assessment
of the Care Home’s parking was requested to demonstrate that spare capacity
exists. Additionally, a unilateral undertaking between the applicant and the
Care Home was requested to demonstrate that the proposed car parking
spaces could be secured in perpetuity. Ultimately, the applicant decided to not
provide the requested information, and the proposed parking at Leawood
Manor care home cannot be materially considered as part of this application.

The Highways Authority have raised an objection to the proposed first floor
extension on highway safety grounds as the proposals present a considerable
shortfall in off-street parking, and as such, would likely generate a significant
increase in on-street parking in the vicinity of the application site. Detailed
communication with the agent to overcome the concerns raised by the
Highways Authority have been had over the lifetime of the application, and
additional information provided by the agent has been considered, but the
Highways Authority position has not changed. Given the above, it is considered
that all options have been fully considered and explored. Consequently, the
proposed development would increase on-street parking, which would have an
adverse impact on access for vehicles, including service and emergency
vehicles, restrict junction and access visibility splays, and obstruct footways
and be a hazard to cyclists and pedestrians, all to the detriment of highway
safety. Consequently, the proposal would be contrary to Policy 1 of the LPP2
and Chapter 9 of the NPPF.

Ecology and Biodiversity Net Gain

A majority of the application site is covered by the footprint of the building. The
remainder of the application site is hard surfaced for the bin store and the car
parking area. The application proposes a first-floor extension to the existing
building. Based on the information submitted, | am satisfied that there are
unlikely to be significant ecological impacts, and it is considered that the
development would be acceptable from an Ecology perspective.

Paragraph 13 of Schedule 7A to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
states that planning permission is deemed to have been granted subject to the
"biodiversity gain condition" which means development granted by this notice
must not begin unless:

(a) a Biodiversity Gain Plan has been submitted to the planning authority, and
(b) the planning authority has approved the plan.

Under Regulation 4 of the Biodiversity Gain Requirements (Exemptions)
Regulations 2024 the statutory biodiversity gain condition required by
Schedule 7A to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) does
not apply in relation to planning permission for development which:

page 24



87.

88.

89.

90.

91.

92.

e does not impact an onsite priority habitat;

e and impacts less than 25 square metres of onsite habitat that has
biodiversity value greater than zero and less than 5 metres in length of
onsite linear habitat.

The proposed development would not alter the footprint of the building.
Therefore, based on the information submitted in the planning application
documents, the Planning Authority considers that the proposed development
is exempt from net gain.

Taking the above into account, it is considered that the proposed development
would comply with the aims of Policy 17 of the LPP1, Policy 38 of the LPP2,
Chapter 15 of the NPPF and the relevant legislation.

Conclusion

The proposed development seeks planning permission for a first floor
extension to an existing dental practice. The principle of the proposal is
supported as it would result in the expansion of an NHS dental practice.
However, the proposal conflicts with local and national policy on highway
safety.

The proposal presents a considerable shortfall in off-street parking, and as
such, would generate a significant increase in on-street parking in the vicinity
of the application site. This would have an adverse impact on access for
vehicles, including service and emergency vehicles, restrict junction and
access visibility splays, and obstruct footways and be a hazard to cyclists and
pedestrians, all to the detriment to highway safety.

For the above stated reasons, it is considered that the proposal would conflict
with local and national policy. Whilst the expansion of an existing healthcare
facility weighs in favour of the scheme, it does not outweigh the harm that has
been identified above, and it is recommended that planning permission be
refused.

The proposal was subject to pre application advice and discussions have been
undertaken throughout the course of the application to try and resolve
objections received. A fundamental highway concern has been raised which
has been unable to be satisfactorily addressed resulting in a recommendation
to refuse planning permission.

RECOMMENDATION

Itis RECOMMENDED that planning permission be refused for the following reason

1.

The proposed development, by virtue of its shortfall in off-street parking
provision, would generate a significant increase in on-street parking that
would have an adverse impact on access for vehicles, including service
and emergency vehicles, restrict junction and access visibility splays,
and obstruct footways and be a hazard to cyclists and pedestrians, all to
the detriment to highway safety. The proposed development therefore
fails to mitigate the likely significant impacts of the development on the
transport network in terms of highway safety and congestion, to create
places that are safe and that minimise conflicts between pedestrians,
page 25



cyclists and vehicles, and to allow for the efficient delivery of goods and
access by service and emergency vehicles. The proposed development
is therefore contrary to Policy 1 (Development Requirements) of the
Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 2: Land and Planning Policies and Chapter 9
(Promoting Sustainable Transport) of the National Planning Policy
Framework.

page 26



Planning Appeals — January 2026

Planning Ref: Address Proposal or Breach Appeal Decision Type Planning Inspectorate Comments/Decision
Decision Reference Date
25/00460/0UT Land West Of Outline planning Dismissed Non-Determination | 6000892 21/01/2026
Main Street, application for the erection
Thoroton of 6 no. dwellings with Costs Award dismissed
associated gardens and car for the Appellant
parking (all matters
reserved aside from access)
24/00539/VAR Cenote, School Variation of condition 2 Allowed in Part | Delegated 6001334 30/01/2026
'8 Lane, Colston (plans), 10 (screen fencing/ o
(% Bassett walling and means of Costs Award dismissed
) enclosure), 12 for the Appellant
~ (landscaping) for
19/02622/FUL to substitute
a new driveway layout plan

G wa)| epuaby



This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting held on 8 January 2026
	4 Planning Applications
	25.01188.FUL - Hilton Dental Surgery, 1 Hilton Crescent, West Bridgford - Plan
	25.01188.FUL - Hilton Dental Surgery, 1 Hilton Crescent, West Bridgford - Report

	5 Planning Appeals

